
United Nations 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 
TWENTY-THIRD SE~SION 

Official Records 

CONTENTS 

Agenda item 46: 
Increase in the production and use of edible 

protein: report of the Secretary-General 

Page 

(continued) • . • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • . • • • • 1 

Agenda item 47: 
Outflow of trained professional and technical 

personnel at all levels from the developing 
to the developed countries, its causes, its 
consequences and practical remedies for the 
problems resulting from it. • • • • • • • • • • • 6 

Chairman: Mr. Richard M. AKWEI (Ghana). 

AGENDA ITEM 46 

Increase in the production and use of edible protein: 
report of the Secretary-General (continued) (A/7203/ 
Add.l, chap. IV; A/7350, A/C.2/L.l 023, E/4592 and 
Add.l-3, Add.3/Corr .1 and Add.4) 

1. Mr. GARCIA PINTOS (Uruguay) said that, while the 
main purpose of the Charter of the United Nations was 
to save humanity from destruction by war, it was 
equally important to protect it from starvation. Hunger 
must be eliminated altogether and the protein prob
lem could not be discussed in isolation. It was im
possible to be complacent when 100,000 people were 
dying of starvation every day, 300 million children 
were seriously under-nourished, and 56 per cent of 
the world's population was suffering from hunger, 
while in other parts of the world there was over
production of food which could not be used because 
of defects in the distribution system. 

2. Malthus's equation had been rendered obsolete 
by modern technology, since sufficient food for one 
man could now be produced from 35 square metres 
of land and since 30,000 million men could theoretic
ally be supported at the same level of living as that 
of the developed countries. The immediate need was to 
triple current food supplies, to increase animal pro
tein consumption by 900 per cent and general food 
consumption by 1 1/2 to 2 per cent. 

3. The problem had been correctly diagnosed by 
United Nations bodies and good work on the subject 
had been done by F AO. The production of unconven
tional protein foods was recommended in the Secre
tary-General's report on the protein problem (E/4592 
and Add.1-3, Add.3/Corr.1 and Add.4) and there was 
now a draft resolution (A/C.2/L.1023) before the 
Committee. 

1 

SECOND COMMITTEE, 1233rd 
MEETING 

Wednesday, 47 November 1968, 
at 3.30 p.m. 

NEW YORK 

4. Uruguay was a major producer of protein-rich 
food and had a high per capita protein consumption. 
It was therefore in a good position to assist other 
countries. New farming techniques had enabled it to 
achieve a tenfold increase in meat production and, 
together with Argentina and Brazil, it could make a 
major contribution to the world's meat and fish re
quirements. Uruguay produced its own fertillzers 
and progress was being made in the industrial produc
tion of protein from nitrogen. In order to provide such 
assistance, however, improvements would have to 
take place in the Uruguayan economy. Since 1962 
output had risen by 4 per cent and consumption by 
25 per cent and Uruguay needed to increase output 
in order to be able to purchase equipment and ma
chinery. The existing trade system did not help its 
exports and, as the Government of New Zealand had 
said in its reply to the Secretary-General's ques
tionnaire, which was contained in the annex to his 
report on the protein problem, fairer trading condi
tions had to be obtained in order that markets might 
be available at reasonable prices for an increasing 
quantity of production (see E/4592, para. 70). 

5. Uruguay and its neighbours were already promoting 
increased fertilization, irrigation schemes, forest 
conservation, protein preservation, new growing tech
niques and the expansion and industrialization of 
fisheries. But to make real progress, the marketing 
system needed to be strengthened and the distortion 
of crop prices avoided. The sea was a rich source of 
protein but could not be exploited unless there was an 
improvement in the economy. 

6. The establishment of a global policy for the dis
tribution of food-stuffs would undoubtedly play an 
important part in the battle against hunger and should 
therefore be a priority item on the agenda for the 
second Development Decade .. 

7. Mr. CHRISTIANSEN (Norway) said that his dele
gation had always stressed the urgency of the protein 
problem and the necessity of solving it by greater 
and better co-ordinated national efforts. 

8. Under the International Biological Programme, 
Norway had been carrying out research into protein 
production from ordinary food plants. It was hoped 
to determine the influence of the growth factor on the 
quantity and quality of protein and experiments would 
be made with plants in various climates and conditions. 

9. With a view to increasing the supply of protein 
from marine sources, efforts were being made to 
improve the Norwegian fishing industry by means of 
oceanographic and hydrographic research and im
proved catching techniques. Easier credit facilities 
and other incentives were being used to stimulate the 

A/C.2/SR.1233 



2 General Assembly - Twenty-third Session - Second Committee 

industry. Norway was also taking an active part in 
the work of FAO, WHO and other international bodies. 

10. His delegation agreed with the conclusions and 
recommendations in paragraphs 12 to 39 of the Secre
tary-General's report (E/4592), namely, that greater 
international efforts, stronger political support and 
multidisciplinary approach were vital. As emphasized 
by the Advisory Committee on the Application of 
Science and Technology to Development, the expanded 
WHO/FAO/UNICEF Protein Advisory Group would 
play an increasingly important role in advising United 
Nations bodies, shaping their policies and promoting 
co-operation among scientists (see E/4592/ Add.2). 

11. His delegation approved of the specific proposals 
of the WHO/FAO/UNICEF Protein Advisory Group 
(see E/4592/ Add.!), particularly the proposal to 
stimulate demand for fish and to develop safe and 
acceptable fish protein concentrates for human con
sumption, and fully supported the view that the world 
protein crisis could be averted only by the action taken 
by the developing countries with international assist
ance and that food and nutrition problems couldnot be 
separated from the population problem. The protein 
requirements of pregnant women, nursing mothers and 
children should receive special attention. 

12. His delegation appreciated the efforts of Canada 
and India in preparing draft resolution A/C.2/L.1023 
which it would be happy to co-sponsor. 

13. Mr. AHMED (Pakistan) outlined the background 
to the protein problem and the steps taken since the 
1950s. The current crisis was largely due to the 
population explosion and, in the next decade many 
young people were likely to experience serious 
malnutrition. 

14. The Advisory Committee on the Application of 
Science and Technology to Development had set up a 
small group to study the problem and had produced 
a most useful report entitled Feeding the Expanding 
World Population: international action to avert the 
impending protein crisis (E/4343/Rev.l),!l which was 
a good example of how to identify a problem, establish 
policy objectives, and make specific proposals. The 
Advisory Committee had said exactly what action 
should be taken by the United Nations and Member 
States. Given the magnitude of the problem, the finan
cial implications were not unreasonable. 

15. Unfortunately, there had been some reluctance 
to take the action necessary for implementing the Ad
visory Committee's recommendations when the matter 
had been considered by the Second Committee during 
the twenty-second session of the General Assembly. 
It had been argued that there was no point in preparing 
a draft resolution until it was known precisely wjl.at 
Governments and United Nations bodies were doing. 
In spite of the urgency of the problem and the fact 
that a report (E/4343/Rev.I), prepared by highly 
qualified people and quite capable of being acted on, 
had been submitted to the Committee, the resolution 
adopted (General Assembly resolution 2319 (XXII)) 
had been no more than a technical one, requesting 
Governments to supply information. Their replies 
had been received and published (see E/4592, chap. II), 
together with the comments of the WHO/F AO/UNICEF 

!f Umted Nations publication, Sales No.: E.68.XIll.2. 

Protein Advisory Group (E/4592/ Add.1), the Advisory 
Committee on the Application of Science and Tech
nology (E/ 4592/ Add.2), WHO (E/ 4592/ Add.3 and 
Corr.l) and FAO (E/4592/Add.4). In view of the lack 
of time available in which to prepare the report, it 
was highly mformative and rightly called for more 
positive action by Governments. The Protein Advisory 
Group was now in a better position to advise the agen
cies responsible for implementing protein development 
projects whether under the United Nations Develop
ment Programme (UNDP) or the regular programme 
of technical assistance. 

16. His delegation welcomed the achievements of 
F AO and WHO, and, since an inter-disciplinary ap
proach was most important, it thought that the Indus
trial Development Board should consider, at its next 
session, how the secretariat of the United Nations 
Industrial Development Organization could take a 
more active part in solving the problem. 

17. The main responsibility lay with individual coun
tries, whose Governments should develop an inte
grated approach. Pakistan had established a special 
body to investigate the protein problem, which all 
Governments should treat as top priority. As always, 
the solution of the problem required financial and tech
nical assistance from national and international 
sources, but the requisite funds were not always 
forthcoming. 

18. Pakistan would have to rely on conventional 
sources for some time, while the eating habits of 
the population were changed through educational 
campaigns. National efforts of that kind could bene
fit from United Nations case studies, which could help 
to identify gaps and serve as models for other de
veloping countries. 

19. Even if it was not possible for the United Nations 
to implement the Advisory Committee's recommenda
tions in full, it could at least become a focal point for 
mobilizing international awareness of the problem and 
be a clearing-house for information of use to the de
veloping countries. It could also help to mobilize 
private and public resources in the developed coun
tries, assist in bilateral programmes and ensure that 
work done in the developed countries could be put to 
use in the developing countries. By keeping interest 
in the problem alive, it would enable rapid action to 
be taken when the time came. 

20. There should be a gradual but steady intensifica
tion of United Nations activities, with the emphasis 
on evaluation studies to ensure that the failures and 
achievements of current work on protein were taken 
into account in future. 

21. Mr. OHIN (Togo) said that the population explo
sion created a very serious food problem: by the year 
2,000 the world population would have more than 
doubled and the tragedy was that the increase was 
much more rapid in the developing countries, whose 
population would have risen by that year from the 
present two thirds to four fifths of the world total. 
Moreover, food production was not keeping pace with 
population growth: in 1966 it had been virtually the 
same as in 1965, whereas the world population had 
increased by about 65 million. The food surpluses of 
the industrial countries were now almost exhausted. 



1233rd meeting - 27 November 1968 3 

22, The problem was one of quality as well as 
quantity, and, in particular, the lack of sufficient pro
tein in the diet of pregnant women and young children 
could have incalculable results. It was a tragic para
dox that, at a time when mankind had conquered the 
atom and outer space, 300 million children were suf
fering from malnutrition that jeopardized their phy
sical and mental development. Total world production 
of edible protein amounted to some 80 million tons a 
year, which would allow for an average per capita 
consumption of 25.18 kg, but unfortunately 70 per cent 
of the total was consumed by the industrial countries 
with only a third of the world's population. The de
veloping co1mtries were not in a position to make full 
use of modern scientific methods to solve their food 
problem. Nor could family planning alone be expected 
to do so. There must be intensified development of 
existing resources and efforts to find new sources of 
food. 

23. Trad1tional sources of protein were unfortunately 
too costly for the great majority of the undernourished 
masses; hence there must be an expansion in the pro
duction and an improvement in the quality of animal 
and vegetable protein for human consumption, Fish 
must not be overlooked as a valuable source of food. 

24, The developing countries lost 25 per cent of their 
crops every year through the ravages of birds, in
sects, rodents and moulds and 9 million tons of pro
tein could be salvaged by effectively controlling grain 
pests. The waste must be reduced, but it had been 
estimated that within the next ten years several mil
lion dollars would be needed to improve the storage 
and transport of food. 

25, Useful work was being done in producing high
protein cereals and edible oil-seeds, and inproducing 
food from oil-seed residues. Oil-seeds were also used, 
in addition to grains and legumes, to produce protein 
concentrates. The total annual output of oil-seeds 
represented almost 20 million tons of protein. Fish 
flour was becoming increasingly acceptable as a food 
item, and it was now possible to obtain such a flour 
with a protein content of up to 85 per cent. Some of 
the protein concentrates were being used in the 
developing countries as a basis for special food 
supplements. 

26. One promising non-conventional source of pro
tein was seaweed; it was already used for human con
sumption in Japan, and a seaweed in the marshes of 
Chad, found suitable for both animal and human con
sumption, was palatable, gave promise of high yield, 
and had a high protein and vitamin content. 

27. But all such efforts to increase the supply of pro
tein would be ineffective unless distribution was im
proved and the people were better informed about the 
principles of nutrition. The developing countries ex
ported large quantities of oil-seeds, representing close 
to 40 million tons of protein for human consumption, 
to the industrial countries where they were used either 
as fertilizer or animal food. Modern technology could 
transform those materials into valuable, palatable 
and cheap foods and thus reduce malnutrition in the 
developing countries which resulted in an infant mor
tality rate that was twenty to fifty times that of the 
developed countries. 

28. It was also incredible that nearly 4 million out 
of a total of 6 million tons offood products made from 
skimmed milk were used for animal feed and, although 
much of the 2 million tons of powdered milk produced 
came from fluid milk, which would be difficult to dis
tribute to the human beings who needed it, nearly half 
was used for animal feed, mainly in western Europe, 
apparently for economic reasons. 

29. Hence, it was clear that nature's supply of pro
tein was bountiful. What was needed was the rational 
exploitation of those resources for the benefit of man
kind through swift and concerted action by Govern
ments and the international community as a whole. 
The report of the Advisory Committee on the Applica
tion of Science and Technology to Development re
garding the impending protein crisis (E/4343/Rev.1) 
emphasized that there was little time to lose. Indi
di vidual action by the poor and rich nations must con
stitute the main contribution; that had been agreed by 
the West African Conference on child nutrition, held 
at Dakar in March 1968. Technical and other external 
aid could be highly useful, but it was essentially tem
porary, and measures must be taken to ensure that 
programmes were continued after such aid had 
ceased. Governments could explore the possibility of 
promoting new food industries through tax incentives, 
subsidies and market guarantees. Nutrition bureaux 
should be established and there should be an exten
sive exchange of information among the various 
countries. 

30. Togo was deeply concerned with the problem and 
in October 1968 an interministerial working meeting, 
attended by representative of the United Nations and 
FAO, had been held at Lome. Togo intended to make an 
effective contribution at both the national and regional 
levels. Its policy had been laid down by the Minister for 
Foreign Affairs of Togo in his statement to the General 
Assembly on 25 October 1968 (see 1706th plenary 
meeting, para. 20), and it had been one of the sponsors 
of General Assembly resolution 2319 (XXII) calling for 
an increase in the production and use of edible protein. 
His Government was ready to participate in any action 
designed to solve the protein crisis and would there
fore support draft resolution A/C.2/L.1023. 

31. Mr. TERNO (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics) 
said that the Secretary-General's report (E/4592 and 
Add.1-3, Add,3/Corr .1 and Add.4) provided a useful 
survey of the work being done in many countries to 
solve the protein problem. The Soviet Union supported 
the comprehensive approach referred to in para
graph 33 of the report. 

32. There were three different aspects of the prob
lem to be considered. In the first place, in many de
veloping countries the people did not eat enough and 
suffered from malnutrition or protein deficiency. 
Secondly, in some countries the population as a whole 
received sufficient food, although it was not properly 
used according to the tenets of modern science. 
Lastly, successful results had been obtained in the 
developed countries with new agricultural techniques, 
new crops and the development of synthetic protein 
and should be made available through the international 
agencies. 



4 General Assembly - Twenty-third Session - Second Committee 

33. Food production was made difficult for the de
veloping countries by the prevailing inequitable trade 
system. Those countries needed to diversify their food 
production and concentrate on high-protein products. 
The main means of overcoming their problem was a 
radical change in their social and economic systems. 
Their principal goal must be to increase production 
of their traditional foods and to ensure its proper 
distribution. 

34. Improving the quality of food, in respect of 
calories. proteins, and vitamins, offered a broad 
field of action for WHO, which should co-operate with 
the competent authorities in the various countries and 
with UNICEF and the other specialized agencies con
cerned. The United Nations should use the existing 
organizations to collect information on the protein 
problem and consult with the specialized agencies on 
appropriate measures. 

35. The problems involved in providing the population 
with high-quality food, improving agricultural yields, 
and developing the corresponding branches of industry, 
science and technology had been discussed by the 
Plenum of the Central Committee of the Communist 
Party of the Soviet Union in October 1968. Considerable 
advances were being made in the Soviet Union in boost
ing the production of protein of vegetable and animal 
origin, improving yields, extending the areas of culti
vation, and increasing the livestock population. The 
aim was to improve the protein content of wheat by up 
to 3 per cent, of maize by up to 17 per cent, and of 
potatoes by up to 3 per cent. Protein-enriched foods 
were being used for feeding animals in order to in
crease the protein content of meats and meat products. 
Methods of using fish and invertebrates as a source 
of food were being improved in order to prevent pro"
tein loss. Research institutes were experimenting 
with various genetically improved strains of high 
protein content. Edible soya flour containing 50 per 
cent protein had been developed and bakery products 
were being improved by the addition of fish meal. 
Use was also being made of various types of timber 
waste and vegetable waste to produce protein con
centrates. Industrial enterprises had been established 
to produce protein yeasts from culture for fodder; 
research was also under way on the use of proteins 
obtained from petroleum, and of bacterial proteins, 
for fodder. Tests had shown that such fodder was 
harmless, biologically valuable, cheap and of high 
quality. The Soviet Union would continue to make 
its experience available through the existing agencies 
and organizations. 

36. Mr. TOBON VILLEGAS (Colombia) supported 
the suggestion, made by Brazil at the 1232nd meeting, 
that a new paragraph should be added to draft reso
lution A/C.3/L.1023 asking international financial 
institutions to give special attention to food production 
projects aimed at increasing the use of edible pro
tein in the developing countries. 

37. Mr. BRADLEY (Argentina) regretted that so 
little space had been given in the Secretary-General's 
report on the protein problem (E/4592 and Add.1-3, 
Add,3/Corr.1 and Add,4) to the information transmit
ted by Governments in their replies to the question
naire (see E/4592, chap. II). His Government had sent 
in a lengthy reply and much of it had been omitted; 

he presumed the same was true of the replies from 
other Governments. He hoped that the practice would 
not be continued and that, if delegations wished to see 
the original replies, the Secretariat would make 
suitable arrangements. 

38. Turning to the comments of the WHO/F AO/ 
UNICEF Protein Advisory Group, he said that the 
recommendations contained in the three paragraphs in 
section VI (see E/4592/ Add.1), provided sound guide
lines for future action and that the draft resolution 
before the Committee (A/C.2/L.l023) was actually a 
more confused version of those paragraphs. 

39. Argentina believed that the protein problem should 
not be considered separately from the question of 
hunger; there should be a joint study on food covering 
both aspects, with particular emphasis on natural 
sources of protein. There were regions where natural 
and cheap protein could be produced if capital was 
available and markets now closed to the countries 
concerned were opened; suitable studies could reveal 
those possibilities and would be highly relevant to the 
food problem and programmes. 

40. Too much emphasis was given to protein, at the 
expense of the vitamins and minerals that were equally 
important in a balanced diet; there should be a report 
on the lack of those items too, especially in the de
veloping countries. 

41. While preferring the working paper originally 
submitted by Canada to the Economic and Social 
Council,Y Argentina would nevertheless support the 
draft resolution. 

42. Mr. ULA Y A (Malawi) said that the protein prob
lem was linked to world food production as a whole. 
Efforts should be made to continue the progress made 
in the past year-and-a-half. There was no lack of 
protein but equitable distribution was required to solve 
a problem which affected the physical and intellectual 
development of future generations. National, regional 
and international bodies should not only ensure an 
abundant supply of protein but also educate the public 
to use what was available, bearing in mind the custom 
of some groups to eschew certain proteins on moral 
or religious grounds. Particular attention should be 
given to the needs of children and of pregnant and 
nursing mothers. Political, economic, educational and 
social action was needed, If a fraction of the efforts 
to reach the moon were directed to closing the protein 
gap, the position would be vastly improved. 

43. The protein problem was complex and required 
an interdisciplinary and systematic approach with 
well-planned co-ordination at the national, regional 
and international level. Efforts to close the protein 
gap would benefit the world as a whole and action to 
meet the needs of children would help to equip them 
for running the world of the future. The matter should 
be considered as one of the most important activities 
for the second Development Decade. 

44. His delegation welcomed the activities of FAO, 
UNICEF and WHO in that sector. The problem would 
be solved only if Governments and international or
ganizations accorded it high priority. It must be ap-

Y See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council, Resumed 
Forty-fifth Session, Annexes, agenda item 4, document E/L.l239. 



1233rd meeting- 27 November 1968 5 

proached as a problem not only of total availability 
but also of distribution among areas, socio-economic 
groups and even members of the same family. 

45. Mr. DECASTIA UX (Belgium) said that two con
tradictory concepts had emerged: while some had 
maintained that the present machinery was out of 
date, others had emphasized its continued usefulness. 
The documents before the Committee showed that the 
specialized agencies considered themselves capable 
of meeting the new demands of the problem. On the 
other hand, the Under-Secretary-General for Eco
nomic and Social Affairs had stated at the 1230th 
meeting that it was a global problem requiring fur
ter action, such as basic research and market studies, 
which must be co-ordinated and systematized. The 
experts of the specialized agencies were in the best 
position to know the effects of protein malnutrition. 
His delegation was satisfied with the efforts they had 
made so far and confident that they would continue 
to work effectively, thus making it unnecessary to 
set up new bodies. He agreed with the Italian repre
sentative that some readaptation would be required at 
the national level and that studies should be carried 
out for the beginning of the second Development 
Decade. 

46. His delegation supported draft resolution A/C.2/ 
L .1023 on the whole, but might wish to introduce 
some minor drafting amendments later. 

Mr. Muzfk (Czechoslovakia), Vice-Chairman, took 
the Chair. 

47. Mr. WOODWARD (Food and Agriculture Organi
zation of the United Nations) said that the item 
covered a broad, technical and specialized area. The 
production and use of edible protein was a complex 
act1vity falling clearly within FAO's competence, 
even though it was related to a number of activities 
of particular concern to UNICEF and WHO. The point 
had repeatedly been made that, for the foreseeable 
future, agriculture and fisheries must be the primary 
sources of mcreased protein production, which could 
not be divorced from agricultural development as a 
whole. FAO's work on the subject was not limited to 
the execution of UNDP projects, which largely served 
to complement its regular programme: it was also 
engaged in other protein activities under the Freedom 
from Hunger Campaign, its trust funds and the World 
·Food Programme. A similar situation no doubt existed 
with regard to the other agencies concerned in the 
work of the Protein Advisory Group. 

48. He recalled the statement by the F AO representa
tive in the Economic and Social Council:U concerning 
the nature and extent of FAO's work on proteins, the 
functions of the WHO/F AO/UNICEF Protein Advisory 
Group and the comments by the Director-General of 
FAO (E/4592/Add.4). The representative of WHO had 
also drawn attention to his Director-General's views 
(see E/ 4592/ Add.3 and Corr .1) and had discussed the 
history and work of the Protein Advisory Group, the 
availability of information and other issues. The FAO 
representative had later stated that his Director
General would no doubt wish to cons1der and comment 
upon the far-reaching proposals made, and had ap-

:V lb1d., Resumed Forty-fifth Session, 15b9th meenng. 

pealed for an opportunity to consult FAO headquarters 
before decisions of substance were taken. 

49. The material before the Committee unfortunately 
failed to provide all the background information. F AO 
and the other agencies most closely concerned needed 
no awakening to the problem. The former Director
General of F AO had probably done more than anyone 
else to mobilize world public opinion and organize 
activities to the extent of his powers, as the World 
Food Congress held in Washington, D.C. in June 1963 
and the Freedom from Hunger Campaign bore witness. 
In his budget for the 1968-1969 biennium, that Director
General had included a section for the promotion of 
protein-rich foods as an urgent necessity and had ex
pressed his intention of establishing special units to 
work closely with other competent bodies. F AO, 
UNICEF and WHO, through the Protein Advisory Group, 
had given increased momentum to their activities. 

50. The various reports on the subject and the com
ments made in the Economic and Social Council and 
the General Assembly had shown the importance of 
stepping up national and international efforts. The in
ternational agencies primarily concerned had been 
mobilizing their joint efforts to the limit of the human 
and financial resources made available by Govern
ments. The co-ordinating, advisory and service 
mechanism of the WHO/F AO/UNICEF Protein Ad
visory Group and its secretariat had been enlarged and 
1ts resources increased by the three sponsoring agen
cies. The members of the Group for 1968 and 1969 
were people of special competence representing a 
wide range of disciplines; their comments (E/4592/ 
Add.1) on the Secretary-General's report provided a 
concise frame of reference and priorities for action 
at the national and international levels and a blueprint 
for action by F AO, UNICEF, WHO and other compe
tent organizations. 

51. The five priorities set by the Director-General of 
F AO (expansion of the use of high-yielding varieties 
of cereals, action to close the protein gap, the war 
against food waste, the mobilization of human re
sources in rural areas and the encouragement of 
foreign exchange conservation and export earnings) 
had a significant role to play in solving the protein 
problem and illustrated its close alignment to general 
agricultural development and the expansion of food 
supplies. The FAO Indicative World Plan for Agricul
tural Development, designed to indicate priorities for 
national and international action, would undoubtedly 
enable Governments to reach decisions on policy and 
would serve as a basic component of the second De
velopment Decade. 

52. Consideration of the protein problem inevitably 
led back to the availability of international and national 
resources and the effectiveness of national actwn. The 
Director-General welcomed appropriate resolutions 
adopted by the General Assembly to mobilize opinion 
and resources, particularly those made available to 
the competent specialized agencies, and also United 
Nations action for joint periodic assessment in con
junction with those agencies. 

53. FAO's misgivings concerning some of the draft 
proposals made in the Council derived, firstly, from 
their conflict with the principle of avoiding duplica-



6 General Assembly - Twenty-third Session - Seco11d Committee 

tion, proliferation of effort and diffusion of resources 
and, secondly, from the doubt that any action could 
be fu!ly effective if it was divorced from the spe
cialized activities of the agencies primarily concerned. 

54. F AO would no doubt welcome the substance of 
draft resolution A/C.2/L.l023 and co-operate in its 
implementation if it was adopted. lt was gratifying 
that the international action propo::;ed was linked with 
the existing activities of the agencies directly in
volved. The draft resolution was timely m its empha
sis on the urgency of the problem and the need for 
policy action by Member States and in seeking to en
list world ir.terest and support. 

55. FAO would welcome an opportunity for more fre
quent and meaningful consultation to enable it to as
sist the General Assembly in reaching considered 
judgements. 

56. Dr. COIGNEY (World Health Organization) re
called his statement in the Economic and Social Coun
cilY concerning the observations by the Director
General of WHO (E/4592/ Add.3 and Corr.1). Bearing 
in mind that the nutrition problem could be sclved 
only through an interdisciplinary approach, WHO had 
welcomed the interest shown by the other specialized 
agencies in the protein problem and the activities in 
which they were engaged. WHO was working in particu
larly close collaboration with F AO, whose responsi
bilities covered the production and d1str1bution of 
food-stuffs, while WHO was essentially concerned 
with preventive action through better nutrition. 

57. Protein-calorie malnutrition remained the chief 
deficiency disease in the developing countries. It was 
distressing that, in a world in which science and 
technology were makmg giant strides, hundreds of 
millions of children were still afflicted with hunger 
and disease. Protein-calorie malnutrition, particu
larly in the form of kwashiorkor and marasmus, af
fected from 1 to 9 per cent of children up to five 
years and contributed largely to the high mortality 
in that age-group. Apart from the direct effects of 
such malnutrition, its benign forms, which were 
widespread among children in developing countries, 
encouraged development of communicable diseases. 
Most deaths from measles, whooping-cough and diar
rhoea were associated in some degree with it. A large 
part of the adult population also suffered from protein 
and calorie deficiencies which considerably reduced 
t~1eir working capacity and productiv1ty. 

58. While centrmg its efforts on the prevention and 
treatment of nutritior.al disorders, WHO was en
deavouring, in close collaboration with F AO, UNESCO 
and UNICEF. to raise the nutritional level of the de
veloping coun•ries through applied nutrition pro
grammes, iDstruction on nutrition in universities, 
and nutrition seminars. It was assisting in personnel 
training, the establishment of nutrition services or 
institutes, surveys, rehabilitation centres &nd the 
organization of a nutrition programme for execution 
by health centres, particularly those concerned with 
rnaternal anc! c!1ild health. 

59. lt1 collaboration with FAO and UNICEF, WHO 
was also taking part in formulating aad encouraging 

·-v-lbld. 

programmes for the production of new, low-cost, pro
tein-rwh food mixtures for vse as supplementary or 
weaning foods in regions where animal proteins were 
insufficient to maintain a satisfactory nutritional level. 
Several composite foods had been tested in Algeria, 
Taiwan, Etniopia and India, and trial centres had also 
been designated in Chile and Guatemala. 

60. WHO was engaged, jointly with FAO and UNICEF, 
in over sixty co-ordinated programmes of applied 
nutrition being undertaken by national bodies respon
sible for agriculture, education, community develop
ment arrd 9ublic health. 

61. The obse:t\'ations of the Director-General of WHO 
(E/4592/ Add.3 and Corr .1) or. the Secretary-General's 
report clearly set forth the role which WHO expected 
to play in that sector. WHO was prepared to intensify 
its efforts, but they must be backed up by increased 
governmental support. 

62. WHO shared the FAO representative's vwws and 
was ready to co-operate in implementing the draft 
resolution. lie welcomed the comments by delegations 
on the desirability of making full use of the existing 
machinery. 

AGENDA ITEM 47 

Outflow of trai11ed professional and technical personnel 
at all levels from the dev:eloping to the developed 
countries, its causes, its consequences and practical 
remedies tor the problems resulting from it (A/7203, 
chap. X, sect. B; A/7294) 

63. Mr. MARSH. (Jamaica) saic! that the Secretary
General's report on the outflow of trained personnel 
from developing countries (A/7294) provided a good 
basis for the Committee's work. Its main emphasis 
was on the economic and social conditions in the coun
tries of emigration and the immigrat~on policies of 
the receiving countries, but some attention needed to 
be given to political factors, in order to determine 
whether they discouraged skilled personnel from re
maining in their countries of origin. 

64. The subject was complex and it had not yet been 
possible to present, in simple tabular form, a com
parison of the skills required ir. different countries. 
The first step should thel'efore be to provide Member 
States with a standard system for :recording migration 
statistics. 

65. The cost to the developing countries of the so
called brain drain also needed study. Although there 
was often a reverse flow of talent, the brain drain 
could be a serious loss to a low-income country. In 
order to achieve a net gain in the flow of talent, the 
developing countries would have to offer better in
centives than those of the developed countries and the 
coat of that, when 2.dded to the :::ost of training emi
grants, was very high. Re therefore suggested that 
the developed countries, whkh were r2ceiving skilled 
immigrants from the deve!oping countries, might 
aJ so recruit unskilled personnel and train them to do 
the work lhat was needed. 

66. The problem was part of manpower planning as a 
whole, since a higher m:tput of trained personnel in 
the developing countries would not necessarily offset 
the !.osses through emigration, unless their social and 



123;)rd meettng - 27 November 1968 7 

ec:onomic development a1so nnproved. That point 
should be considered when plannmg the second De
velopment Decade, 

67. More publicity must be g1ven to the development 
programmes of the dew~loping countries to assist 
them in utilizing their highly qualified personnel. 
There W8S also a need to inform high school gr2duaLes 
of probable fttLure demand m val'ious trddes and 
professions. 

68. A remedy n~t;st be found for the lack of commu
r,Icatioro between developing countries, some of which 
had .sLtrplus personnel who could be usefully recruiteri 
1Jy ctlv~rs. His deJegation therei'ore co,nmended the ef
forts being made to persuade foreign contractors en
gaged in major i.nfl·astructural p1·ojects to recruit 
professio:1al and highly trained staff whc were n~1tl ves 
of particular developing couatr'es, but tn fact employed 
elsewhere. 

69. The report rightly emphasized the human rights 
aspect, by quoting frou1 the Universal Ikclaration of 
Human H1ghts. The frust1·ation and irritatiOn ofquali
fled personnel, often caused by incompetent super
visors, was one of the causes of the brain drain, 
The reminder thnt the Charter of the United Nations 
and the basil' instruments of the Umted Nations laid 
down that there should lJe fundamenUll respect for the 
rights of individuals was therefore most timely. 

70. Mr. ASANTE (Gh<.na) said that the Secretary-· 
Gene;:-al 's report (A/7294) confirmed what was al
ready known about the brain drain, corrected false 
notions and revealed the real nature of the problem. 
It was not a new phenomenon, but 1ts scale had in
creased in recent years. It was not confined to the 
developing countries-Can ada, Norway, the Nether
lands aud Greece alsc. suffered-and except possibiy 
in South America, thel'e were no signs tha1 it would 
decrease (ibid., para. 4). The time had come to take 
action, not to initiate further studies. In any case, as 
the problem vaned from one country to another, it 
would have to be solved at the national level. The 
developed countries knew how to keep out undesirables; 
they should also be able to refrain from enticing to 
their shores those wloo were more needed in their 
own countries. However, the main responsiLility lay 
with the developj!lg countries and they must act. 

71. ~n Gnana the problem was particule.rly acute in 
respect of doctors and engmeers. A conversation he 
had had with a Ghanaian elector working in ~he United 
States had shown that the motive was not more money, 
but the fact that the lack of paramedical staif in 
Ghana made the practice of medicine more difficult 
there. But doctors wh.o le:ft should realize that it v;as 
their duty to help to train the pe.ramedical staff 
needed. 

72. Another problem derived from U·,e fact that once 
a man reached a certain high positwn, such as the 
director of e. hospital, in a develcped co;_;ntry, :lt war 
not easy to fit him into the medical structure in his 
own country if he wished to return. 

73. Further global studi8s would n:)t be usefvl. but 
country studies werP needed and the United Nai:ions 

--------
might assist the developing countries in preparing 
them. It was interesting to note from paragraph 51 of 
lhe Secretary-General's report (A/7294) that Japan 
had '1 low rate of professional migration, despite 
comparatively low salary levels. It would be interesting 
to hear the delegation of Japan regarding that matter. 

'14. With respect to measures tdken to halt the brain 
drain, he observed that, as indicated in chapter VIII oJ 
the report (ibid., para. 108), Argentins relaxedjmport 
bxes for returning professionalc ar:d indw h:1d estab
lished a scientific pool, which shewed that bolct steps 
we:re needect. Ghana had agreed tc> pay the passage uf 
returning doctors and gave them aclv:,nces to enable 
them to buy cars and other items. Some steps to checK 
the immigration of professionals from other coun
tries were being taken by the United Kil1:SCvh1 and tlte 
United States (ibid., paras. 110 and Ill), and a usefcl 
role was being played by the United Natior.3 lnier
national Cec1tre fo:c ~heoreac1:1.l :Physics at Tries~-e 
(ibid., para. 109). Emigrant professionals should be 
told that, if they did not return, their country would re
main backward and they woulcl never be really re
spected abroad. Public funds were spent on education 
on the understanding that there would b'3 a return from 
the outlay and the country concerned had a right to 
demand the return. Possibly, passport restriction& 
should be introduced, and legal action taken to enforce 
cortracts entered into before a grant was awarded, 

75. Paragraphs 16 to 19 of the report r2ferred to 
the human rights aspect of the problem, which intro
duced an unnecessary element of confusion into the 
discussion. F;:-eedom could never be absolute; it must 
recognize certain duties to society. Nevertheless, 
there might sometimes be facto"('S in the developing 
countries that made professional life unattractive
nepotism, class barriers, and :i'igid bureaucratic 
machinery. They must all go if the brain drai.n was 
to be halted. 

76, It must be recognized that the emigration of 
professional staff was not always wholly '!lldesirable. 
Those concerned might be so disgruntled &s to be of 
little use; or they might be one of the small band of 
geniuses who had to migrate to find the environment 
they needed for their great talents. Some of t!1e Nobel 
Prize winners in the United St8tes were examples of 
the latter category. 

77. Mr. COX (Sierra Leone) agreed with the repre
sentative of Ghana that the movement of q<laJ.ified 
persons from one part of the world to anotner c"Juld 
represent a world gain. Such mig~·atlons took place 
between developed countries and from developed tn 
developing countries, and there 'VaR no reason u:hy 
there should not be a two-way t:;:affic. People clE·dded 
to migrate because they thought ~hey W)Ulc behappi.er
in the country to which they were going and better aG1e 
to fulfil e.1eir aspirations. ri they could r.ot he retained 
because of the stage of devE·l.opment c,r 1P.ck of re
sources ir. their cou,1t;.·y of origin, it could not leg;
timately be called a brain drain problem if they felt 
the1.1sel ves compelled to leave. By cioing so they bene
fited both t.he coantry to which they migrated and the 
prestige of their own by demonstrathgnation~l talent. 



8 General Assembly - Twenty-third Session - Second Committee 

The human rights aspect must be borne in mind. It 

must also be remembered that the staffs of the inter
national organizations consisted of migrants. He might 

Lnho tn Ll.N. 

wish to comment in greater detail when he had an op
portunity to prepare a written statement, 

The meeting rose at 6 p.m. 

77201-0ctober 1970-2,275 


